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--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, everyone.  I think we will get started.

This is the technical conference for EB-2010-0345, the Niagara West Transformation Corporation electricity transmission rates application.

My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  The purpose of today's technical conference is to ask follow-up questions, seek clarification, and whatnot, on the matters that are relevant to this rates proceeding.

As you can see, there are no Board members.  I am joined by members of Staff, but of course we are here for administrative purposes.  We have our own questions, but we can't make any rulings or anything of that nature.  So if we get into disputes about questions and answers, we will do our best to resolve them, but nobody here can make any rulings.

Why don't we take appearances, just so the record is clear on who we have in the room.  And then I understand, Mr. Bacon, you are going to be the ring leader for the applicant; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  That's the role I am going to take.

MR. MILLAR:  Then I understand there will be some preliminary things you wish to address, as well?

MR. BACON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we start with appearances?  As I say, I am Michael Millar, joined today Nabih Mikhail and Edik Zwarenstein.  Mr. Skalski?
Appearances:

MR. SKALSKI:  Andrew Skalski with Hydro One Networks, and with me I have Mr. Henry André from Hydro One.

MR. BURRELL:  Carl Burrell with the IESO, and with me I have Richard Zaworski.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Burrell.  Just for completeness, we have Mr. Richmond and Leila Azaiez in the room, as well.

Mr. Bacon, do you want to get us started?
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MR. BACON:  Sure.  My name is Bruce Bacon.  I am a rates consultant with BLG.  I am helping NWTC out with their 2011 rate application.  I am sort of quarterbacking this proceeding from our end today, so hopefully that will be helpful.

To my right is Karen Bubish.  She is vice president of administration, and she is also a board director, and also to her right is Peter Wicks.  He's vice president of operations, and he is also on the board of directors of NWTC.

We have a couple of preliminary issues we would like to put forward to you today, to hopefully help with the understanding of what NWTC is all about.  The number 1 issue is there has been a lot of discussion about this baseline trigger point.

In our preparation for this technical conference, it has come to our awareness that we are responsible -- NWTC is responsible for the amount that would not be achieved by the baseline trigger point for NPEI and Grimsby Power.

So NWTC is responsible for any amounts that Hydro One would be charging them for not maintaining the baseline trigger point.

We have found this out and we actually have documentation with regards to that, which -- do you have a copy for yourself?  You have?  Okay.  I would like to hand this out, if that is all right.  If you wouldn't mind distributing that?

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark this as an exhibit, or is this already on the record, Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  Pieces of it are, but pieces of it are not.

The order which is in front of you for RP-2004-0139 and EB-2004-0219 is already on the record, but I am going to stop here until everybody gets a copy of this.

MR. MILLAR:  We will mark it as an exhibit.  I guess it is a booklet of documents.  Is that the best way to refer to it?

MR. BACON:  That would be a fair assessment.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  NWTC BOOKLET OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. BACON:  1.1, okay, thank you.

Everybody has a copy?  All right.  So what this is is the order that came from the Board on March 28th, and there was, in this order, discussions on the baseline trigger point, and, as a result of preparing for this technical conference, Ms. Bubish -- Ms. Bubish found these documentations or correspondence in the last one, two, three, four -- five pages at the back.  And to summarize, we can probably get into it during the question period, but at the end of the day, NWTC is responsible for -- is responsible for amounts that are not made up to the baseline trigger points.

For instance, if Grimsby Power doesn't make the baseline trigger point, then NWTC will be responsible for the cost of that.

I guess we can get into questions later on, or is it appropriate to deal with this now, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I guess people will probably have it in their questions, but maybe I could ask you for just a bit more clarification on this, and maybe I am slow on the uptake.

When you say they are responsible for amounts that are not made, what do you mean by "responsible" and what do you mean by "amounts that are not made"?

MR. BACON:  All right.  Let's, for example, go to four pages in, which is a memo from Mr. John Alton to Robert Davidson dated February 24th, 2005.

The first paragraph says:
"We have confirmed with the Ontario Energy Board that the baseline trigger point for Grimsby Power is 19.274 megawatts and for Penwest is 42.256 megawatts for a combined guarantee of 61.53 megawatts as outlined in our customer cost recovery agreement."

Now just so you are aware, Penwest is no longer Penwest.  It is now NPEI, which is Niagara Peninsula Energy Inc., and so when we talk about NPEI, we're actually referring to the Penwest amount.

Anyway, all that to say, for instance, Grimsby Power has a baseline trigger point of 19.274 on the Beamsville TS, which is owned by Hydro One.

If Grimsby Power does not use that amount or they use -- they don't use that amount and they use less than the 19.274, there will be a charge to NWTC for the amount that they do not use up to the baseline trigger point.

I just want to confirm.  Is that correct?

MR. WICKS:  It is basically called the true-up.  So every five years, Hydro One sends everybody a note saying, Guys, you didn't use the amount of energy based on the baseline trigger point.

If there is a shortfall, it becomes Niagara West's, to Niagara West's account.
Questions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  And if you prefer, let me just throw some follow-up questions at you.  When you say "charge", what is the charge?

MR. BACON:  Well, actually, Hydro One determines what the charge is.  And through the trying to prepare for this technical conference, we have examples in here of what the charge is.  We don't know how it actually is calculated, to be honest with you.

MR. MILLAR:  So they send you an invoice?

MR. BACON:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Those would be sort of for any moment in time where you are not hitting the demand threshold?

MR. WICKS:  No.  The true-up is done every five years.  So they calculate what shortfall any one of the LDCs has over a five-year period, and, if they have a shortfall below the baseline trigger point, then there is a charge assessed by Hydro One which Niagara West pays.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And is that amount reflected in your revenue requirement?

MR. BACON:  No, it isn't.  It is not reflected in our revenue requirement.


We have discussed this, and we believe that it doesn't impact on our rate application at the end of the day, because we are basically asking for the same rate that is charged in the province, except on a standalone basis.

Bottom line, we're asking for $1.77.  We are not changing that as a result of knowing this information.  It just means that these are costs that NWTC will have to bear in the next little while, during the test year -- during the test year.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is a cost that is not reflected in the application, but you won't be seeking recovery for that cost; is that a fair way to put it?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry if I cut you off, Mr. Bacon.

MR. BACON:  No, no, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you want to take us through the rest of this, or is that --


MR. BACON:  I hope that is all that is needed at this point, to -- I don't want to take too much time on it, if everybody basically understands it.  So I am hoping that is the case.

Is that fair, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I leave it to you how much you want to take us through.

I wonder, this is -- in fairness you did mention you that were going to bring this up, to me, at least yesterday, but the other parties I think are probably just hearing this now.

Do the parties need to take five minutes or anything to consider this?  Or did you have other preliminary matters?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I have one more.

MR. MILLAR: Okay.  Why don't we finish the preliminary matters?  Then we will decide if people need to take a few minutes to digest this.

MR. BACON:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Please go ahead.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Well, that was the first one.  And the second one is basically to help me, to be honest with you.

NWTC is a very interesting organization within our industry.  It is very much a standalone transmission company.

And it is -- so I was, in discussing it with Karen and Peter, it was helpful for me to have a picture of it, and so I thought I would distribute two pictures.

One is the engineering picture, and I don't have a little ring on my finger, and I understand it a little bit.

But then there is the other picture, which is a layman's picture, which I am going to talk to and hopefully help you understand how NWTC works.

If the engineering helps, as well, we can -- Peter can refer to that one.

So I thought I would distribute that.  Based on -- I understand I can actually go up and talk to it up on the panel up there, and that is what I thought I would do, if that is okay with people.  Okay?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's fine.  Do you have paper copies?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I have paper as well.

So if you could distribute that.

[Mr. Zwarenstein passes out copies of documents

produced by Mr. Bacon]

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Bacon, while you are setting up, why don't we mark these as exhibits?  We have two diagrams.

One, I take it, is a proper engineering diagram, if I can refer to it that way.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's the one you have on the screen right now?

MR. BACON:  That's on the screen right now.

MR. MILLAR:  So we will call the engineering diagram KT1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.2:  ENGINEERING DIAGRAM.

MR. MILLAR:  And the second one, how would you describe this?  I guess it is not formally an engineering document, it is a --


MR. BACON:  First of all, let me see if I am on.  Am I on here?  Okay, thank you.

MR. WICKS:  I would call this the –- I call it a substation layout drawing.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will call that the substation layout.  That will be KT1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  SUBSTATION LAYOUT.

MR. BACON:  Right.  All right.  I thought I would hopefully take us through this, and hopefully I am doing this.

And if it is -- please stop me if I am not being clear, and specifically Karen and Peter, please stop me if I say something that needs to be enhanced.

First of all, there are the two lines down here at the bottom of the page, which I just pointed out there.  Those are the Hydro One 230-kV lines that are running to the south of the station.

And there is a line that takes off from the Q 25 B1 line that comes into the station, goes through a switch, through a meter, and then through the transformer out to the bus.  Is that the right term?  Is that the bus, Peter?

MR. WICKS:  27, 6 kV.

MR. BACON:  Right, 27, 6 kV.

So on that line specifically, all that NWTC owns is this line (indicating) and the transformer.

There is another line down here that comes into the other transformer, which is a line that comes off the Q 23 B M, and comes into the station as well, metered here, and goes into a transformer and then comes off to the bus here.

The point of this -- at this point we're trying to illustrate that all NWTC owns are these lines, this line here, these transformers and this bus -- building.  Is that a building?  Sorry.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  That is all -- that is all their assets.  Go ahead.

MR. WICKS:  May I –-

MR. BACON:  Go ahead.

MR. WICKS:  The connection from the 230-kV line to our bus, which is the three dots, is what we own as transmission.  From the three dots on to the transformers through the metering is bus system within the station; it is not cable feed.

So there is a loop cable from both Hydro 230-kV lines into our bus system.  One of them is about 100 feet, and the other is about 50 feet.

That is our total distribution system at Niagara West.

MR. BACON:  And so as the power continues out of the station, it comes out of these two lines here -- or the four lines, which feed Grimsby to the north and NPEI to the south.  The lines that are coming out of the station at this point are owned by the LDC, and all lines downstream of that.

Now, what I was interested is:  How does everything get charged?  That is why I have this picture here, for my benefit.

What happens is, with regards to the charges for transmission from Hydro One and basically all of the charges that IESO charges, the IESO will look at these two meters.  They will look at the loads in those two meters, and they will send NPEI a bill for that load, for the services, the transmission services and the wholesale market services and all of the stuff that the IESO will typically charge.

They take a look at that, those meters.  They will send a bill to NPEI, and there is a meter downstream here somewhere which meters Grimsby's power that's been taken from the transformer, the transmission station.

And then NPEI will take the total bill from the IESO for these points, and based on the metering for Grimsby Power, they will proportion it and send Grimsby Power a bill for the amount that -- for their portion of the charges from the IESO that relate to the power moving through NWTC's substation.

So in summary, the IESO sends a bill to NPEI for all the services that they provide them, and then NPEI proportions it to Grimsby Power and themselves, based on the load between the two LDCs.

MR. WICKS:  Bruce.  NPEI pays the IESO.

MR. BACON:  Oh, yes.  NPEI pays the IESO, right.  Correct me --


MR. WICKS:  They get their share from Grimsby based on Grimsby's metered load, at 27.6.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

And lastly, there is a process that -- there is a process that takes these meter reads, splits it between Grimsby Power and NPEI, and that is fed back to the IESO.

And the IESO sends that information to NWTC, and then NWTC uses that amount to charge Grimsby Power and NPEI for the services coming from the substation.  That is how they get their revenues.

Is there anything, Karen and Peter, you would like to add?  Okay.

So that is the picture, and that is how we understand it.  That's how we understand it.  That is how it works, and hopefully that may help with the discussions going forward.

MR. WICKS:  I think one of the things we want to emphasize is that Niagara West has no transmission, except for that 100 feet of cable between hydro lines and our station bus.  That's the only transmission we have, because the feeders at 27.6 right from the breaker terminals are the LDCs' responsibility.

So while we're classed as a transmitter, we actually don't do any transmission, per se, as do other transmitters that have miles and miles and miles of line around.

MR. BACON:  So, Mr. Millar, those are our preliminary issues, so I guess we're open for questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I am going to want to take just a very quick huddle with my folks here.  Mr. Skalski, Mr. Burrell --


MR. BURRELL:  Well, perhaps with while we're on the diagram, we could clarify a couple of issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure, absolutely.

MR. BURRELL:  You noted -- sorry, you noted that the line connection from Hydro One's 230 kV circuits to the station, Niagara West also owns that; is that correct?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  We had a little bit of a concern about that, because the way that the -- that delivery point is currently billed, the two distributors are actually billed for -- at that delivery point, for both line connection charges, as well as network charges.

So that would -- what that basically infers is that that line connection asset that connects the station is actually part of Hydro One's transmission system, as well.

So that's just the point I wanted to clarify.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  Is that the case?

MR. WICKS:  Yes, that is indeed the case.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  That is indeed correct.  Just sort of as a back-up, follow-up to that.  Hydro One controls switches, monitors Niagara West station.

If there is a decision needed by Hydro One to shut power off, for whatever reasons they need, they're the ones that do that by opening the line switches.

So they do control that little piece of cable connector and the conductors right to the transformers.

MR. BURRELL:  And the ownership issue, I understand from your clarification that that line, piece of line, is actually owned by Hydro One, as well?

MR. WICKS:  Yes, it is.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  We got charged a portion of it when it was built, but they do own it, yes.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  I want to be clear on this, because I want to make sure that we provide the correct information.

Peter, can you just confirm with me we are talking about this line right here; right?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  Yes, right to those three little dots, which is where our bus is, 100 feet one side, 50 feet the other.  That little piece of cable we paid for, but Hydro controls it.

MR. BACON:  I just want to be -- and I apologize if this looks interesting from your perspective, but this is an exercise in understanding for all parties, okay, including NWTC.

My question to you, Peter, is:  NWTC owns that line, don't they?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  And they own this line right here?

MR. WICKS:  Correct.

MR. BACON:  And I think that -- so that's...

MR. BURRELL:  We're a little bit confused on that issue, because currently the way that the facility is settled for network and line connection charges, both utilities are actually billed.  Both distributors are actually billed line connection and network charges at that delivery point, which suggests that line connection asset is actually not owned by Niagara West.

MR. BACON:  I know that is your point and I want to understand that, as well, because I was under the -- I was under the impression that these lines were actually owned by NWTC, but we need to explore that.

MR. BURRELL:  If the line was actually owned by Niagara West, then obviously that line connection asset, they would not be paying -- the utilities would not be paying -- they would actually be paying Niagara West line connection charges, as well?

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.  But currently those utilities only pay Niagara West for transformation charges?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  So the ownership issue is a little bit -- needs some clarification, as well.

MR. SKALSKI:  If I can just jump in, I think what the situation likely is -- I don't have the facts, but I am assuming that what happened is Niagara West paid a capital contribution towards the cost of that line connection, but it is owned by Hydro One.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  I think you are correct, yes.

MR. BACON:  All right.  So if that is the case, in the lovely industry that we're in, that means it is owned by Hydro One and line connection charges should be levied.

MR. BURRELL:  And they are currently levied, but obviously given that it is not owned by Niagara West, then those charges -- Niagara West is not collecting line connector charges, as well?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.  That is the point we wanted to clarify.  Otherwise, it would have made the situation a lot more complicated.

MR. BACON:  Right.  Well, thank you for that, because I actually just learned something.  So I appreciate that.  I don't want to belabour this point, but is there anything else that we want to look at before we continue on?

MR. MILLAR:  Does anyone have any more questions on this diagram?

I am going to suggest we break just for five minutes for people to digest some of the preliminary remarks, and then maybe we can get back into the questioning.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 9:58 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:13 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We are back.

We have just had some off-line discussions, and without getting too much into the details, because I think will be something filed to confirm this, why don't we leave it at -- I understand there will be a further update with regard to this baseline trigger points issue that we were discussing as a preliminary matter.  And rather than get into it here, I think we will have some additional filings or something of that nature that should clarify that.

But to the extent people are reading this transcript, you should review the record further, because there will be further correspondence or filings related to this.

So with that, I propose we move into the questions.  I would propose to go first, unless anyone else is dying to get out of here.

Hearing no objections, I will begin.

I would like to begin with some questions about exactly what is being sought through this application. And just by way of background, if you have your materials handy, the original filing, if I could take you, I think, to page 3 of 66, this is where you set out what you are seeking from the Board.  And I just raise this by way of context and background.

Paragraph 5, you state:

"NWTC is seeking Board approval to update the uniform transmission connection rate for Ontario, so as to permit NWTC to recover its forecasted base revenue requirement of $838,672 for 2011."

However, if you turn to Board Staff IR 25, we see what I guess you might characterize as an update to your application, perhaps an amendment.  If you would turn to page 2 of that IR response - again, it is Board Staff 25 - it is marked as page 50 of that document, and you'll see in bold there, it states:

"As a result, NWTC is proposing that it continue with its existing standalone arrangement, separate from the UTR process, and the approved UTR of 1.77 per kilowatt for transformation connection be approved as the rate NWTC would charge GPI and NPEI for transmission transformation connection service."

First, do you see that?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So could you please confirm for me exactly what it is that NWTC is applying for in this application?

MR. BACON:  I would say, really simply, the information that is bold is what we're applying for now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are no longer seeking to be part of the UTRs?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are asking for $1.77 a kilowatt?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And this would be charged against GPI and NPEI?

MR. BACON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I am sorry if I am just reading through.

MR. BACON:  No, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to make sure the record is crystal-clear on this point.

Now, I have done some very simple math, and it is almost certainly wrong, but I've -- you have a base revenue requirement of just over $838,000; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  That would be under the assumption -- we have a base revenue requirement of $838,000 in the application, but that amount will have to be obviously adjusted downward to be reflective of the $1.77.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, let's take this one step at a time.

In the application, it is $838,672; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you flip to page 16 of the prefiled application, you give your load forecast, and for 2011 the total is 432,175?

MR. BACON:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And by my math, if you only charge $1.77 on that, you get something in the neighbourhood of 764 -- just under $765,000; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So are you proposing to forego about – well, 80-, $90,000 in revenue requirement?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  And I can't really -– well, it actually says in response to 25(a) that in order to do that, we would be willing to lower the rate-of-return on equity.  That is how we would do it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So let me just build to that for a moment.  By my rough math, in order to recover your full baseline requirement, as it appears in the application, you would have to charge $1.94?  Would you take that, subject to check?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.  That is the correct number.

MR. MILLAR:  And without being able to do the math in my head, how much of a revenue shortfall are we talking about between 764?  Is it $85,000, something like that?

MR. BACON:  I will take that, subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, you probably won't want to, because it is almost certainly wrong.

MR. BACON:  There is a reduction in revenue requirement of about that amount, if we move to a 70 percent rate of return.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Zwarenstein tells me it is about $73,000, so let's just use that.

MR. BACON:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are willing to forego that revenue.  Did I hear you just say you would take it out of your cost of capital?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there would be no money taken out of O&M --


MR. BACON:  No.  Not in this proposal to get to the $1.77, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You have a cost of capital, which shows on page 12 of 66 of your application, of $449,000, just under $450,000?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand you are partially debt-financed and partially equity-financed; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  If you take $75,000 off your cost of capital, do you -- I take it you still have plenty of money to cover your debt financing obligations, which I take are with a third party?

MR. BACON:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Your debt is with a bank or something like that?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You can cover all of your required debt payments --


MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  -- with $375,000, something like that?

Maybe this is a silly question, but should I ask -- why are you volunteering to forego $75,000 in return on equity?

I am sure ratepayers are appreciative, but we don't often get people volunteering to take a lower ROE.

MR. BACON:  Not often, but there are cases that they do.


So I think it is very -- this is very much a learning experience for everybody that is sitting on this panel that you are looking at.

It was first our understanding that we had to be part of the provincial UTR, based on discussions with some people, and -- but as a result of this -- interrogatories, which we really appreciate -- we understand there is an opportunity for us to still stand alone.

And we think it is important for us to stand alone on a competitive basis -- I guess you could call it that -- or a comparable basis with the services that are being provided other places.

And we don't want in any way to, I guess, jeopardize or send a pricing signal to our customers that would be different than they would get from other providers.

So we're aware of that.  We want to make sure that our customers are provided service that is comparable to other providers, and we just want to be basically competitive and we are willing to take a lower rate of return on equity in order to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the reasons the Board -- I was involved, and Mr. Bacon, I am not sure if you were as well, but the Board's relatively recently cost of capital review, are you familiar with that, at least?

MR. BACON:  I am slightly familiar.  I wasn't involved with the process of putting it together, but we deal with it a lot, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Without getting into the details -- I don't propose to file it or anything like that -- the Board had some high-level discussion about the purpose of return on equity.  The Board accepts the cost of capital including the return on equity as an actual cost; are you familiar with that?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the reasons the ROE is set where it is, currently nine and a half, 10...

MR. BACON:  9.58.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that right?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is to ensure entities will be able to attract capital to their enterprises.

Do you have any concerns that with a lower ROE, that NWTC will have any issues attracting capital, to the extent you even need capital in the planning period?

MS. BUBISH:  I wouldn't think so.

MR. BACON:  We don't see that as an issue.  We haven't had problems attracting capital to date with actual lower rate of returns than other companies.

And so we don't see it as a problem at this point.

MS. BUBISH:  I don't think so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

There's been some talk, both by me and you, of the standalone model that NWTC currently has and is proposing to maintain.

It might be helpful for the record if you could define what you mean, what NWTC means, by the "standalone model".

MR. BACON:  My definition of the standalone model is -- I am going to look at that picture again.  And essentially it -- that the box -- without getting into a lot of detail, the box around the NWTC substation is a company unto itself, separate from -- it stands alone, separate from the provincial UTR process.

And it just is -- well, I was going to say a simple company.  I don't want to use that word.  But it is a very small, simply-run company that is -- doesn't get involved with the issues associated with being connected to the UTR process.

And it appears that this was how -- from my understanding of the history of the NWTC, it appears that this is the way it was set up in the first place for it to go forward.  And with the process of working through the interrogatories, it appeared to us this was still an option for us to consider and which we are -- we would like to thank whoever asked the interrogatory.

It was very helpful to us that -- it is an option that makes life simpler for NWTC.  And so basically it is a standalone company that sits out, away from the UTR process.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  One final question just on the application.  You brought forward a revenue requirement, which you have indicated you are willing to forego part of it.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You have given us a load forecast, and essentially you are asking for a rate that, subject to this foregone revenue, will allow you to cover all of your costs.  It is a rate application in that sense?

MR. BACON:  That's right.  It will cover our costs.  And I guess, by definition, the ROE is a cost, but it will not allow us to attain the ROE that other companies would have.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to move to some specific questions on your individual operating costs.

So the best platform for this is probably a chart you produced, table 6, in the prefiled, page 18 of 66.  That is where you set out all of the operating costs.

MR. BACON:  Yes.  I suspect these questions might go to Karen, but I'm not sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's fine.

I have some questions on just a couple of the line items.  The first one is a line item for Bell Canada circuit charges.  Do you see that?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think we asked you some IRs about that, IR 6 from Board Staff.

First, maybe just to assist me, what type of services does Bell provide for you under this line item?

MS. BUBISH:  Peter, you are likely better to answer that.  Page 11?  Peter, do you want to answer that, what the bill provides, the circuit costs?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  The station is controlled by Hydro One Barrie control centre, which includes the ability to monitor any of the major equipment alarm functions, and to switch the station when Hydro One needs that done because they need to take load off.

Bell telephone lines are the ones that are used for all of these monitoring points that go from the station up to Barrie.

MR. MILLAR:  These costs rose from about 27,700 in 2007 to 33,600 in the test year?  Have I got those numbers right?

MS. BUBISH:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  We asked you for a copy of the contract you have with Bell Canada, and your response at 6(c) was that it is not available.

First, can you confirm for me there is a written contract with Bell?

MS. BUBISH:  No.  There is no written contract.

MR. MILLAR:  There is no contract?

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  So you simply get a bill.

MS. BUBISH:  We simply get a bill.  We just received communication from them with regard to a rate increase, but there has never been, as far as I know, a written contract.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you -- you said you got notification of a rate increase.  Is that included in the materials?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And is that the document you provided in one of the appendices?

MS. BUBISH:  No, because we just received it.  We knew there was going to be a rate increase, but we just received the actual documentation on it.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, has that documentation been filed?

MS. BUBISH:  No, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we ask you to file that?

MS. BUBISH:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  So I am going to -- assuming you don't have it handy, I will give that an undertaking number.  That will be JT1.1, and that is to file the notification from Bell with respect to a rate increase.

MS. BUBISH:  Mm-hm.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO FILE NOTIFICATION FROM BELL WITH RESPECT TO A RATE INCREASE.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that the rate increase that brings you to 33,604, or is that an incremental increase?

MS. BUBISH:  This is an incremental increase.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, so it will be more than 33,600?

MS. BUBISH:  Actually, it will be less.

MR. MILLAR:  It is a notification of a rate decrease?

MS. BUBISH:  No.  This is an assumption, the forecast.  What we received was an actual notification that it would go up X number of dollars, or percentage, and it didn't actually turn out to be that high.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.

You don't know the number offhand?

MS. BUBISH:  No, I don't remember.

MR. MILLAR:  Will that be revealed in the document you file?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We will look at it then.  Thank you.

If I look at, again, back to table 6, you show a constant $33,604 for 2009 through 2011.  2009 is shown as actuals; is that correct?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I thought I heard you say you were -- you had been expecting an increase, but your 2011 forecast doesn't actually show an increase from 2009.

MS. BUBISH:  I would have to look at that.  I don't remember.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess the important thing will be the actual number or the proper forecast for 2011, and you will have a firm number on that in the document you provide?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

The next line item I would like to look at is your insurance costs.  It is about six or seven down.  It was about $30,000 in 2007, and essentially it has doubled in 2011 to a forecast of $60,000.

Now, I understand that one of the reasons for this may be a fire that you had at the facility; is that correct?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes, we did have a fire.  However, the insurance industry told us that that was not the reason for the charges going up.

MR. MILLAR:  So what was the reason for the charges going up?

MS. BUBISH:  Just the industry in general.  Everyone's insurance inflated.

MR. MILLAR:  When was the fire?

MS. BUBISH:  2006.

MR. MILLAR:  2006?

MS. BUBISH:  Is that right?  I forget.

MR. WICKS:  2008.

MR. MILLAR:  2008?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MS. BUBISH:  2008?

MR. MILLAR:  And then I guess the big jump occurred between 2009 and 2010?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We asked you some questions about this at IR No. 10, in particular, whether you had explored using an alternate insurer when your insurance rates doubled, and you said that you didn't do that.

Can you help me with that?  Why wouldn't you have at least considered an alternate insurer if your rates doubled from 2009 to 2010?

MS. BUBISH:  It was a board decision, an NWTC board decision.  We have been with the same company.  There are very few companies around that will insure this type of equipment.

And if it had been directly a result of the fire, we would have likely chosen to change or go elsewhere.  However, there aren't -- there aren't many options there for insurance.  We deal with a MEARIE operation.

MR. MILLAR:  When you -- MEARIE is the name of the insurer; is that right?  It's M-E-A-R-I-E?

MS. BUBISH:  M-E-A-R-I-E.

MR. MILLAR:  When you originally went to MEARIE, did you have a competitive process then?  Did you seek multiple quotes on insurance costs or did you --


MS. BUBISH:  I have no idea.  I was not involved.  I don't believe they did, but that is just an assumption I am making.

MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned that it is your understanding that insurance costs have skyrocketed, if I could use that word, across the board, so you are not convinced you could get a better rate from anyone else.

Where did you get that information, that rates have been going up?

MS. BUBISH:  From MEARIE directly.  There was a quote that said that, on average, most property insurers saw a 100 percent increase in the premiums of this kind of insurance.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to have a copy of that letter?  Or that quote?

MS. BUBISH:  I thought I had –

MR. MILLAR:  If it's here, I apologize.

MS. BUBISH:  I thought it was there, but I can produce that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So why don't we do this as an undertaking?

If it actually is in the evidence, you can just tell us that, but if not, if you could provide that quote from MEARIE.

And that will be J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  to PROVIDE QUOTE FROM MEARIE.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Moving down, under regular maintenance, I guess you have a contract with a company called Rondar; is that correct?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And these costs jump around quite a bit.  It was 6,000 in 2007, and then way up to 66,000 in 2009.  For the test period, we're back down to $25,000.

What exactly types of services are provided by Rondar?

MR. WICKS:  The reasons they are different each year is it's based on the amount of work that is needed.  Every year they will do a certain basic maintenance program, and every second year they do considerably more.  That is why from is a difference in price.

We listed, I think by attachments, what maintenance is done.  Did we not provide that in the submission?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.  It is in here.

MR. WICKS:  We went out for competitive bids day 1, bearing in mind the substation is maintained annually, so right from year 1.

And we had somebody do it for us; we weren't happy with their response or their costs.  We went out for a competitive bid, and Rondar had the best price.

And the variables year-to-year are based on what work is actually undertaken each year.

MR. MILLAR:  You mentioned in an interrogatory response -- I think this is Board Staff 12 -- that you did get some competitive bids on this.

You mentioned two companies, Kayline and Kaytech, and you indicate that they are their proposed costs were about 20 percent higher; is that right?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any documentation in that regard?  Would they have been --


MR. WICKS:  Yes, that could be provided.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That would be helpful.  That will be Undertaking J1.3, and it is to provide documentation related to quotes received by Kayline and Kaytech.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.3:  to PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION RELATED TO QUOTES FROM KAYLINE AND KAYTECH.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

Moving down the line, some questions about monitoring costs that are payable, I guess, to Hydro One.

We see they were $12,000 in 2007, and then there was a big jump in 2008 up to $26,000.  It has been relatively stable since then.  The test year expense is $27,262.

We asked you some questions about this.

First of all, we asked if there was a formal agreement with Hydro One, and I understand that there is no formal agreement.  There is no contract or anything of that nature?

MR. WICKS:  No.  There isn't.  We get the quotation each year from Hydro One, advising us of what their rates will be for the service they provide, upcoming year.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you happen to know why the costs went up so much from 2007 to 2008, and have remained at that level ever since?

MR. WICKS:  No idea at all.  We're totally reliant on Hydro One for the service they provide, and we have no alternative but to go to them.  And they send us a quotation every year, saying our new service rate for the same work will be X dollars.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I understand there may, in fact, be no alternative to Hydro One here.

Did no one from NWTC even inquire why the rate went up so much in that year?

MR. WICKS:  I can't tell you that, because I wasn't involved in those -- we're talking about from 2007 to 2008.  No, I can't...

MS. BUBISH:  I can't either.

MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Bubish, were you involved?

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Bacon, obviously you have no knowledge of that?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is you don't know why it went up so much

MR. WICKS:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And there's no written -- I guess you get a -- not a bill –- well, I guess you get a bill every year from Hydro One?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  We get an invoice.

MR. MILLAR:  But it would be a line item, just showing the amount that you owe?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Does it list the services that are provided?

MR. WICKIS:  No.  I am not sure what was done originally, but the basic quotation that comes in changing the price each year and confirming it by invoice just says:  For services provided by Hydro One Barrie control.

Now, we know what they are specifically, but I don't think I have ever seen a piece of paper that documents those.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, thank you.

If you move further down table 6, we see "Station Issues" and a certain Mr. Peter Wicks; I assume that is you, sir?

MR. WICKS:  That's me.

MR. MILLAR:  Fairly modest amounts here, at least in the test period, $6,000.

The line item simply says "Station Issues."  Can you tell us what service is provided for that $6,000?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  In general, day-to-day running of our station is undertaken by NPEI, under contract.

There are certain times when things are being done at the station by outside contractors, where they cannot be present, bearing in minds that when there is an outside contractor at the station, we always have to have support staff at the station to make sure that safety rules and regulations are adhered to.

And where we can, we use NPEI, and that's part of their contract, but quite often they can't.

So I get sucked into it, and I go up and spend time at the station.  I do all the reviews, maintenance reviews.

For example, if a sump pump fails, we need to hire a contractor in, do the work.  I make the arrangements to have that contractor in.  I go to the site to have him -- be witness to having him test them.  I go to the site when he is there doing the work.

And then we get an invoice -- and I send an invoice to NPEI for my time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is a straight -- a fee for time, essentially?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  Basically, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You play a number of roles, I guess; not necessarily supervise the work done, but monitor it?

MR. WICKS:  I do supervise the work done, and I am there to provide the backup and safety support if NPEI people can't be there.  You know, like, I have keys for access and all of that sort of thing.

MR. MILLAR:  And you invoice this personally, not through a corporation or anything?

MR. WICKS:  No, I invoice -- I am a board member.  I invoice it as me, Peter Wicks.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I guess obviously these are estimates.  So you would take an estimate for 2011, assuming you will spend whatever -- however many hours by your rate, and that is -- can I ask you what your rate is?

MR. WICKS:  A hundred dollars an hour.

MR. MILLAR:  $100?  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  For example, if I could just step back, when we had the fire, which -- the station was out of service for some 14-odd months, I was directly involved with a lot of work that was putting this thing back together to make it run again, and I billed and the insurance company paid it.

In the case where it is not covered by insurance, then I do the same thing, and I bill Niagara West individually, as a board member.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Yes, and just to confirm, you are a member of the board of directors?

MR. WICKS:  Yes, I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I don't want to wish to make a big deal out of this.  It is not very much money at all.  It is probably quite reasonable.

You didn't look at have having anyone else do this work?  It was something the board of directors determined you would be the person to take care of this sort of thing?

MR. WICKS:  Yes and no.  We did at one stage look for outside help, and it was over double what I was charging, so the board suggested, why don't -- seeing as I am one of the people on the board that is electrically-oriented, electrical by training, have me do it.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you an electrical engineer, or do you have a background in --


MR. WICKS:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  So you are an engineer?

MR. WICKS:  I am not an engineer registered in Ontario, but I am qualified as an engineer by education and by background.

I've worked in the electrical industry in Canada for 57 years now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I am almost through here.  A couple of questions -- I want to make sure I don't stray into things that are not relevant for this proceeding, but I wanted to raise –- and I don't have the documentation in front of me.

I understand that NWTC is seeking certain exemptions from the Transmission System Code with regard to hooking up renewables.

Do you know anything about that?

MR. WICKS:  No, not -- yes, I do.  A little bit.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  I need to be a little bit more specific, if I may.

If an embedded generator wants to come along and add to a system, his first course is to go to the LDC and say:  We want to add 10 megawatts of power.

The LDC would do a CIA and submit it officially, and it is always subject to acceptance by the transmitter.

So where it comes from a feeder that comes out of our station, they send it to us, and we do the same, go through the same gyrations in relation to the CIA.  And that, we have been doing, where needed, on an ongoing basis.

But we are now at a level where the fault levels of our system are such that we cannot accept any embedded generation to our system, period.  So we have issued written notification to both LDCs saying that they cannot connect any embedded generation to their distribution system that originates from us.

We have copied off the OEB to that effect, notified them.  So we're at a stage where our fault levels are beyond capability to take any embedded generation.

Now, that doesn't prevent us from taking additional load, but it prevents us from taking input from generators of any sort.

MR. MILLAR:  So I take it -- I am not an engineer, so I will get the terminology wrong, but your system can't take any more embedded generation?

MR. WICKS:  Can't take any more, period.

MR. MILLAR:  How many are currently looked up; do you know?  Approximately would be fine.

MR. WICKS:  I think there is about ten from NPEI and most of them are microFITs, and there are probably six from Grimsby that are connected.

MR. MILLAR:  You couldn't handle even any more microFITs?

MR. WICKS:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  What would it -- let's imagine you are not successful in this or -- what would be the solution to that problem, if...

MR. WICKS:  The embedded generator has to -- there are several alternatives.  But the embedded generator has to cater to reactors or reactors of equipment which they're connecting that limits the fault levels that they generate, because we can't take any more.

We are at 96 percent of maximum capacity allowed.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be possible -- without getting into cost right now, but, first, would it be possible to upgrade your system to allow you to take on more?

MR. WICKS:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is that?

MR. WICKS:  Because the maximum level we are allowed by Hydro One is 17,000 amps.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would need --


MR. WICKS:  And the maximum level that we were allowed when our station was designed and built was 16,000 amps, and we're sitting at 15,328.

MR. MILLAR:  So you would -- first, I guess you would need permission of some type from Hydro One --


MR. WICKS:  No.  They won't give it to you.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's --


MR. WICKS:  They can't.

MR. MILLAR:  They can't because of?

MR. WICKS:  They're limited themselves.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh.  So your evidence is there is nothing that can be done about this problem, essentially?

MR. WICKS:  No.  Short of you could add equipment to our station that would limit the short-circuit levels that the embedded generation provides, but you can only do it by so much, and we are already at the maximum limit.  So you may take one or two kA out of it through reactors, but that is not enough for the other embedded generators.

MR. MILLAR:  If I could just have a moment?

{Mr. Millar consults with Board Staff members]


MR. MILLAR:  Let me just leave it at this, then.  We have had a discussion here.  I am not an engineer and not particularly qualified to challenge any of that.

Aside from what you have just told me here, has NWTC undertaken any engineering studies or would there be any evidence you could submit in support of the notion -- it may in fact be part of your licence amendment application or your licensing issue with the Board.  It may already be on the record in a different proceeding.

But is there anything you can file on the record to assist us in understanding why NWTC cannot accommodate any more generators?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  We did have a full engineering study by -- done by an independent engineering firm as part of our CIA submission for one particular job where they were adding something like 9 megawatts.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to file that, and I suppose anything else that supports that claim?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  We have no difficulty in catering to additional load that the LDCs might want.  We have difficulty in accommodating any further embedded generation.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  So, yes, we can substantiate those numbers.  We submitted them already, by the way, as part of our CIA, but I can wrestle that stuff out.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be helpful.  That will be JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.4:  TO PROVIDE SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION FOR NWTC’S INABILITY TO ACCOMMODATE ANY MORE GENERATORS.

MR. MILLAR:  That concludes my questions.  Why don't we take a time check here?  We are about ten to 11:00.

Mr. Skalski, how long do you think you will be?

MR. SKALSKI:  I expect between 20 minutes and half an hour.

THE COURT: Mr. Burrell?

MR. BURRELL:  About the same.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Mr. Bacon, would you like to take a break now or would you like to get through Mr. Skalski?

MR. BACON:  Why don't we take one and we will see --


MR. MILLAR:  We will see how we're doing after Mr. Skalski.

MR. SKALSKI:  Actually, Mr. André is going to start our questioning.
Questions by Mr. André:


MR. ANDRÉ:  Good morning.  My name is Henry André with Hydro One.  I just have a couple of questions related to clarifying a couple of the responses you provided to Hydro One's interrogatories.  And I think, Mr. Bacon, the information you provided this morning helped clarify that quite a bit, and so we'll probably be able to move through these questions fairly quickly.

If you would turn to Hydro One Interrogatory No. 5?  So in part (b) to that interrogatory, you confirm that you are a transmission customer of Hydro One; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  I had a problem answering this -- I want to give you some background on this.  We are a customer, but we don't pay for service.  So that is an interesting dilemma.  It is almost like I relate it to the fact that my kids are a customer at university, but I pay for their energy bill.  So...

MR. ANDRÉ:  Right.  But as a transmission customer, though, you have a transmission connection agreement with Hydro One that specifies a bunch of other things besides just the payments, a bunch of operational requirements; correct?

MR. BACON:  Well, I would ask that maybe Peter or Karen answer that question.

MR. ANDRÉ:  You do have a transmission connection agreement with Hydro One?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes, we do.  I know that for a fact.

MR. WICKS:  Yes, we do.  Of course, yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  And, again, you may have covered this in the response to part (b), and I think you mentioned it this morning, Mr. Bacon.

So in that connection agreement, it specifies that Niagara West TS is the delivery point for the purpose of uniform transmission charges?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  And the transmission connection agreement also specifies that Niagara West TS is required to pay network end line connection charges to the IESO for the Niagara West TS delivery point?

MS. BUBISH:  No.  No.

MR. BACON:  No, I don't think so.

MS. BUBISH:  No.  Niagara West does not pay for connection or...

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  It -- the payment obligations rest with Niagara West TS, but you are allowed to have a transmission customer agent actually do the payment processing for you, is my understanding.  That's not correct?

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. ANDRÉ:  So do you have a copy of the transmission connection agreement?

MS. BUBISH:  Not with me, no, but I do have it.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay, because it was my understanding that the transmission connection agreement makes it clear that these are the -- it is between Hydro One and Niagara West, and it clarifies the delivery point and the charges that are payable at that delivery point.

MS. BUBISH:  Okay.  He is looking to see if he has it.

The two LDCs that are our customers, they pay the network connection and they pay the line connection.  It's their responsibility.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Right, okay.

MS. BUBISH:  NWTC does not pay any charges.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Yes.  Like, I guess I am just trying to establish that Niagara West TS is the -- is a delivery point for Niagara West Transformation Corporation?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  Let me just see my follow-up question here.

Because I am just wondering if it might be helpful to have that transmission connection agreement on the record, because, as I say, it was my understanding that it did put the obligation on Niagara West Transformation Corporation, but that they could then defer the actual settlement of those obligations to another entity, which I understood to be Niagara Peninsula.

MS. BUBISH:  I see what you mean.  So then we're deferring it to both NPEI and Grimsby Hydro.

MR. ANDRÉ:  NPEI, right.  Okay.

MS. BUBISH:  Okay.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  I think it is critical that we confirm that at our end.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  Just to be clear.  And so I think we should do that.  I don't know if it is an undertaking.

MR. BURRELL:  Mr. André, I think we can assist with that.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.

MR. BURRELL:  I think you are correct.  The obligation is actually on Niagara West Transformer Corp. as a transmission customer of Hydro One.

However, the way that it is administered, Niagara Peninsula is considered the transmission agent that settles the transmission charges at that deliver point on behalf of all of the -- the two utilities.

So Mr. André's assessment, I believe, is correct.

MR. BACON:  This is interesting.  I always enjoy these sessions.

So by definition, what you're saying is NWTC is liable for the charges, except NPEI is the agent in which the charges are rendered and paid for?

MR. BURRELL:  That's correct.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. ANDRÉ:  And I guess my last question in sort of this area of questions was just to confirm that the line connection charges that Niagara West Transformation Corporation is responsible for, is based on the monthly non-coincident peak at Niagara West TS for both utilities combined.  In other words, it is the sum of those two meters that you show there, and it represents the aggregated load from Grimsby and --


MR. WICKS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. André, was there a requirement for an undertaking for anything?

MR. ANDRÉ:  No.  From my standpoint, I don't need it.

MR. MILLAR:  You are satisfied with where the --


MR. ANDRÉ:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, Mr. Burrell's comment is not technically evidence, but is there a dispute about it, from NWTC?

MR. BACON:  No.

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  Turning now to your Interrogatory No. 1 to Hydro One's -- or Hydro One Interrogatory No. 1, now, part (c) of that response, can you confirm that this provides the charge determinants that you have been using, or you have used for determining the amounts that Niagara West Transformation collects for -- transformation services?  In table C, those are the charge determinants?

MR. BACON:  Yes, they are.

MS. BUBISH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  And the table in part (c) has three amounts or three rows, three separate rows, and I take it that the "Total" row, the bottom row, is the sum of 12 monthly kilowatt numbers.

And I just want to confirm what those 12 monthly kilowatt numbers are that are being summed. I assume that is the monthly non-coincident peak of the load supplied at Niagara West TS?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Again, the aggregated load at Grimsby?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  And then the top two rows in that same table are the Grimsby Power and the Niagara NPEI share of that bottom number?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  And how is that split between Grimsby Power and NPEI determined?

MR. WICKS:  Both LDCs -- we meter total capacity at 230 kV, as that shows.

Each of the LDCs have meters on their 27.6 lines that register the amount of load they take.

So the billing done, while NPEI bills -- pays the total bill, to determine the share of Grimsby it is based on Grimsby's metered loads.

MR. ANDRÉ:  So they take, presumably, that time that the non-coincident peak load is -- occurs for the station as a whole.  They then take the Grimsby load at that same point in time, and that --


MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  -- and that determines --


MR. WICKS:  Yes, yes.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  And in the response to that same part (a) of that interrogatory, you indicate that there is no official agreement between Niagara West and its two customers, Grimsby and NPEI, for transformation service?

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  And I assume that also means, then, that you don't have a transmission connection agreement with either of those utilities?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Now, is it not a requirement of the Transmission System Code that a licensed transmitter have a transmission connection agreement with its connected customers?

MS. BUBISH:  Originally when the station was built, it was built by those two customers.  It is no longer –-

MR. WICKS:  They were the owners.

MS. BUBISH:  They were the owners.  And then the process became that the parent company of those two owners took over.

MR. ANDRÉ:  So in your view, there isn't a need for a transmission connection agreement between yourselves and the two customers supplied from that station?

MS. BUBISH:  We do now.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Okay.  Now, if -- do you agree that if Grimsby and Niagara Peninsula Energy were supplied from a TS owned by any other licensed transmitter in Ontario, that they would be considered individual delivery points and would have to pay transmission connection charges based on their individual non-coincident peak loads if they were connected to another TS?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. WICKS:  And they are connected to another TS.

MS. BUBISH:  Mm-hmm.  They both are.

MR. WICKS:  Both are.

MR. ANDRÉ:  Right.  So in those TSs, they pay for the individual non-coincident peak load, but at Niagara West they get the benefit of paying for their aggregated non-coincident peak load, I guess.

And I guess that would be the difference.  If you had a connection agreement and treated them as separate delivery points, they would have to pay based on their individual NCPs, but as it currently stands, they pay on their aggregated, their combined non-coincident peak load?

MS. BUBISH:  You're right.  Correct.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. ANDRÉ:  That's all I have.

MR. SKALSKI:  I wonder if you could turn to your response to Hydro One Interrogatory No. 7, please.

In that interrogatory, we asked you about potential cross-subsidization by the pool.

And in part (b), we just asked you to confirm that your equivalent cost of service was $1.94 per kilowatt.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Based on your evidence.  Right.

And then we also asked you some further questions on the difference between the $1.94 and the pool rate of $1.77.

And in particular, part (c), I guess, you referred us to your response to OEB Staff IR 25.  And if you could just ask you to turn to that, that is the response where you indicate that you are now essentially amending your application?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Instead of asking for the $1.94 equivalent as a rate, you are now saying that you will take the $1.77 pool rate instead, right?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  And I gather that the reason you referred -- in the response to Hydro One No. 7, you referred in that response to the Staff 25 response, you are essentially saying that cross-subsidization no longer applies as an issue.

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Because you are going to take the pool rate, and therefore any questions about cross-subsidy don't pertain?

MR. BACON:  That would be our interpretation.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  I wanted to go down that road a little bit further and explore that issue.

So I wonder if you could turn to the response to Staff 24.

In Staff 24, if you look at the table at the bottom of the response in part (a), what you show in that table are the revenue requirements and the annual charge determinants for the parties that make up the pool, the transmission pool.

And you will see down at the bottom is shown for transformation connection the pool rate of $1.77.

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SKALSKI:  All right.  But that $1.77, of course, is the pool rate.  It is the aggregate of the amounts for all of the transmitters.  So I just wanted to get on the record what the equivalent cost of service is for Hydro One.

And if you will just take this subject to check, if you divide -- again, this is just for transformation connection.  If you divide the revenue requirement for Hydro One of 348.9 million by the charge determinants of 202,198, you will get an equivalent cost of service or a rate, if you will, of $1.73.

Will you take that subject to check?

MR. BACON:  Sure.  Yes, we can, subject to check, $1.73.  Just to be clear, that is 348.9 divided by 202,198?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes.  It doesn't really matter whether it is $1.72 or $1.74.  The point is $1.73 is what I get.  It is less than the pool rate of $1.77.

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Subject to check, that's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  And do you agree, then, that that represents Hydro One's cost of providing transformation service to its customers?

MR. BACON:  Based on the information in the table, that would be correct, yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  Then do you agree that the difference between the pool rate of $1.77 that everyone pays and Hydro One's cost of providing that service represents the cross-subsidy to the pool?

MR. BACON:  Hmm...  Cross-subsidy to the pool?

The pool is made up of a number of components, of which Hydro One is in that pool.

I am not so sure that the pool is -- obviously if Hydro One is $1.73, there are others that are higher than $1.77 to make it average coming out to $1.77.

But it is a pool.  So by definition, is there cross-subsidization or is there just the pool?  I don't know.

MR. SKALSKI:  Let me try to get at it a different way, then.

Would you agree that that difference between $1.77 and $1.73, which is 4 cents -- would you agree that that incremental payment by everyone goes towards -- I don't want to use the words cross-subsidizing, but allowing for the other transmitters' higher cost of service?

MR. BACON:  Through the process, which I am grateful to NWTC for this - and I am actually learning transmission - that is my understanding of it.

There would be -- the effective rate for the other companies listed above would be higher than $1.77.

MR. SKALSKI:  Right.  Once again, to put it in a slightly different way, that differential, that 4-cent differential allows for everyone else's rates to be lower than they otherwise would be.  In other words, it allows for the uniform charge of $1.77 to be paid by everyone?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, okay.

MR. BACON:  But to be clear, that is what everybody else pays.

MR. SKALSKI:  Right, right.

MR. BACON:  So I am a little, a little -- I understand that Hydro One, in the formula, is 1.73.  But at the end of the day, everybody pays $1.77.

MR. SKALSKI:  Right.  But what I am getting at is, if the Board were to accept your amended proposal to essentially charge yourself -- for you to charge your customers $1.77, and then Niagara West gets reimbursed $1.77, right, that is how your standalone^ arrangement would work; correct?

MS. BUBISH:  Mm-hm.  That's correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  Wouldn't you agree the pool is essentially losing that 4 cents of additional contribution that it would have received if you -- if Niagara -- if your customers were, instead, customers of Hydro One, because Hydro One can provide the service at $1.73?  You would pay $1.77 and the pool would get that 4 cents.

The pool does not get that 4 cents if the Board accepts your standalone --


MR. BACON:  But those customers would be charged $1.77.  They would not see the $1.73.

MR. SKALSKI:  But the pool would see that 4-cent difference.  So would you agree that the pool is losing 4 cents of contribution?

MR. BACON:  It is so immaterial.  I guess theoretically I would agree with you, but it is so immaterial that I don't think you would ever see it in the rounding.

At the end of the day, the customer, NPEI and Grimsby, will pay $1.77.  I understand that within the pool it appears that Hydro One is $1.73, but that does not flow through to the customer.

I know through the process that is how Hydro One gets their money, but all of the customers pay $1.77.

MR. SKALSKI:  Yes, that's fine.  I will move on.

I wonder if you could turn to the response to Staff 27, please?  And in that response, Staff was asking whether you had considered having your transformation assets deemed as distribution assets and included within the rate base of Grimsby and NPEI, and I just wanted to explore that issue again.

So is that something that you have considered or would consider as an alternative arrangement?

MR. BACON:  Can I give you some history on this to maybe help with the understanding?

This one is an interesting one to consider.  NWTC, as far as I was concerned, was ahead of the wave on the TS ownership issues for LDCs.

What I mean by that, it was set up in such a way -- this was done in 2003 when the idea of LDCs owning their TSs, that was contemplated, but the rules weren't really in place to actually do that very well.

So NWTC decided to go forward with a company unto itself and develop its own company and get a transmission licence and go forth basically as a transmission company unto itself.

As time proceeded and as we came in, you know, a number of LDCs built their own TSs.  It was only in 2006 to 2007 time frame, when the 2006 EDR Handbook came out, where the Board allowed the deeming of TSs to be included in the LDC.

That is when that basically started.  And prior to that point, that thought had been considered, but the Board -- to my understanding, it wasn't clear that that could be done.

So what I am getting here is that the history of NWTC is that there was a need for a TS for these two LDCs, and, at the time, it was -- it was set up in such a way.  They went forward and got a transmission licence, which they have, which is very unique, to be honest with you, because the LDCs that have their TSs today do not have a transmission licence, because it is within the distribution business.  NWTC has a transmission licence, which is unique.

So I am just trying to give you a background.  I know we're here today and we're looking at this TS in today's mind set, where a number of LDCs have taken their TSs -- even in the cases of Brant County and Brantford, they actually own the TS -- they have a TS and they own it partially.  Brant County owns a piece of it and Brantford owns a piece of it, similar to maybe the way this one would have worked if it was built in today's environment.

But all that to say is that's the history behind it, and maybe Karen or Peter would like to answer the question why we wouldn't bring it into the LDC.

MS. BUBISH:  Right now there is a proposal that one of those LDCs purchase the whole transformation station.   So in the future I would imagine, then, it would go into their rate base.  However, that could be another two years down the road.

The Niagara West Transformation Corporation is owned by two holding companies, and it's one of the holding companies that would like to divest and move on and get out of the business.

So with that being said, there is a consideration, but it's not fact right yet.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  If that were to occur, then presumably your equivalent cost of service of $1.94 would then be borne by the purchaser, whichever one it was of the two LDCs?

MS. BUBISH:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SKALSKI:  Because all of the operating costs and capital costs and so on would be rolled into the rate base of that purchaser, and your equivalent cost of service of $1.94 would be assumed by that purchaser?

MR. BACON:  Not necessarily, because there might be efficiency and costs as a result of moving the TS into the LDC, and there might potentially be a reduction in OM&A costs.

MR. SKALSKI:  Fair enough.  As it stands, though, if there were not any efficiencies realized, right, again, that cost of $1.94 would be higher than the alternative cost of receiving pooled service of $1.77?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.  But I would also suggest that it would be interesting to actually look at the TSs that LDCs own, which nobody has ever done, and look at what their actual costs are in the TS.

No one knows, really, what a TS owned by another LDC costs, relative to the TS that is in the transmission grid, or Hydro One TS.

So you are correct, but it is not unusual that that might happen.

MR. SKALSKI:  Right.  I have one last question.  If you could turn to your response to Staff 16, please.

MS. BUBISH:  Staff?

MR. SKALSKI:  Yeah, Staff 16.  Yes.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  In this response, in the table you show what the actual capital structure of NWTC is.

And it just indicates that your debt/equity ratio is - for 2010 it is roughly 80/20, 79/21 for 2011; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SKALSKI:  And that differs from the Board-approved capital structure, which is 60/40 debt/equity; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SKALSKI:  So would you agree that your actual cost of capital is lower than the Board-approved cost of capital because of your higher debt level?

MR. BACON:  I am not sure, because you would have to - well, I have to do the calculation, to be honest with you, to see if it would be the case, because --


MR. SKALSKI:  Well, but it –- okay.  Would you agree with me that the cost of debt is less than the cost of equity?

MR. BACON:  It is.  Correct.

MR. SKALSKI:  And that therefore, because you've got a higher proportion of debt against a lower cost of debt, then --


MR. BACON:  That's correct.  Yeah, you're right.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  So agreed, your actual cost of capital is lower than the OEB-approved cost of capital?

MR. BACON:  Yes, most likely.

MR. SKALSKI:  Then when you mentioned in your response to Staff 25, and again, as you talked about with Mr. Millar -- I will just turn to Staff 25 –- that you are willing to take the pool rate, although it would have an adverse effect on your return on equity, and you indicated that that return on equity would be around 7 percent.  That is on the second page of the response in Staff 25, just underneath the bolded part.

When you did that calculation, were you basing that on the Board-approved capital structure, or on your actual capital structure?

MR. BACON:  Based on the deemed capital structure of the Board.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  So the actual impact would be less, right?  Based on your actual capital structure, because your required return on capital is lower, on an actual basis?

MR. BACON:  Theoretically, yes.

I want to caution answering that question.  What you say makes sense and I can agree with you, subject to check, but it is difficult to actually do that sometimes without crunching the numbers.

So subject to check, yes.

MR. SKALSKI:  Okay.  That was Hydro One's questions.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Before we move on, there was a discussion with Mr. André about a connection agreement with Hydro One.

Would it be possible to file that document?  I assume you have it.

MR. WICKS:  Did we list it, the connection agreement?

MS. BUBISH:  No, I didn't list it.

MR. BACON:  So is it an undertaking, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  And that number would be?

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5: to FILE the CONNECTION AGREEMENT BETWEEN HYDRO ONE AND NWTC.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Burrell, are you still about 20 minutes to half an hour?

MR. BURRELL:  Probably, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We have about 20 minutes to half an hour left.

Would you like to take a short break?

MR. BACON:  Yes, we will, because then I assume we will finished by lunch.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we would still finish by lunch.

MR. BACON:  Can we get the wording on J1.5?

MR. MILLAR:  I understand there is a connection agreement between Hydro One and NWTC, if you could file that agreement.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's take a short-ish break.  Why don't we come back at 11:30, and that way we can comfortably finish by lunch?

MR. BACON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:19 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, I think we will get started again.  Mr. Burrell.
Questions by Mr. Burrell:

MR. BURRELL:  Thank you.  I think most of our questions have been addressed.  We have a few other questions and a couple of clarifications that we're seeking, as well.

Now, with regard to the new revelation this morning around the trigger point, just one question -- actually, two questions.  You noted that there is a true-up expected every five years or so.  I assume the true-up hasn't been done yet?

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. BURRELL:  And any idea when that will be done?

MS. BUBISH:  Now I don't expect it to be.

MR. WICKS:  It's done by Hydro One.

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.  It is done by Hydro One.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  We understand it is being discontinued.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  Now, the other clarification I was looking for here is, now with this new information that was revealed, does this have any impact on the evidence that was filed, including like, for example, the load data that is used to calculate the transformation charge?

MR. BACON:  No.

MS. BUBISH:  No.

MR. BURRELL:  All right, that is very helpful.  Thanks.

I have one quick question regarding how the delivery point is actually metered.  So these are the points on your diagram on the screen where you are showing the T1 and T2?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  We see it.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  Can you tell me like, you know, how is that demand data collected?  I assume by these two meters.

However, does Niagara West have a metering service provider?

MR. WICKS:  We don't, but NPEI does, and they're the ones that collect it.  They're the ones that pay the bill, and then distribute it between the two LDCs.

MR. BURRELL:  Now, in the context of this issue pertaining to the transformation charge, I assume, like, those meters are actually used, as well, to provide you with the data that is required to calculate those charges; right?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. BURRELL:  So then NPEI, I assume, is the party that actually receives that information?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes, they do.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  So I take it, then, you must have a service agreement between you and NPEI regarding, you know --


MS. BUBISH:  We get the data directly from the IESO.

MR. BURRELL:  So you do?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

MS. BUBISH:  On a spreadsheet every month.

MR. BURRELL:  Can you hold a sec?

MR. ZAWORSKI:  We are just seeking clarification.  Can you clarify how you get the data from the IESO?

MS. BUBISH:  Through e-mail on a spreadsheet on a monthly basis.

MR. ZAWORSKI:  It is not through direct access through or metering systems?

MS. BUBISH:  No, it is not.

MR. ZAWORSKI:   Okay, thank you.

MR. BURRELL:  I would like to jump ahead a little bit now regarding some of the reply responses to various interrogatories.

The first one relates to the reply response to the relationship code issue.  I believe it was a Board Staff IR, and Niagara West noted that --


MR. BACON:  Sorry, IR, what number, sorry?

MR. BURRELL:  Let me just check.  IR No. 14.

MR. BACON:  Thank you.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  So is it still Niagara West's position that Niagara West is not affiliated with -- in any way, shape or form, with Grimsby Power or Niagara Power -- Niagara Peninsula Power?

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.

MR. BURRELL:  I also understand that at one time you - Niagara West might have been affiliated with --


MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  Can you describe what that process was for unbundling that arrangement?

MS. BUBISH:  The holding companies of both of the utilities took ownership.  It was simple.  Instead of the LDC maintaining the ownership, it was transferred to the holding companies.  They're a parent company.

MR. BURRELL:  Do you know roughly the time frame when that occurred?

MS. BUBISH:  Um..., let's see.  I think 2008.

MR. BURRELL:  So it is a most recent arrangement?

MS. BUBISH:  It might have even been prior to that.  It might have been 2006.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay, that is helpful.

I would like to just follow up with one more questions regarding the response to Board Staff 25(a), and this is the issue dealing with the uniform transmission tariff.

As we understand, Niagara West has confirmed that it no longer seeks the Board's approval to be included in the pool?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. BURRELL:  Will you be amending your application in this regard, or have you considered amending your application with specifically what you are looking for in this --


MR. BACON:  It is our understanding that the response to 25(a) is the amendment.  It is as simple as that, within the information that is in the bold.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  My next question relates to your reply to Hydro One's IRs 10 and 11.  Can you turn to that, please?

In your reply to IR 10, you confirmed that Niagara West Transmission Corp. is indeed obligated to the -- all of the provisions under the Transmission System Code.

I note that in your reply to IR 11 regarding the issues pertaining to the connection procedures, more or less it was noted that you don't believe this -- those requirements actually apply to Niagara West.  Do you see that?

As you know, under the Transmission System Code, there are various provisions pertaining to obligation and responsibility of a licensed transmitter, the connection procedures being one of those.

MS. BUBISH:  Okay.  Peter, that is the response, the connection....

MR. WICKS:  I don't understand the question.  Sorry, can you please clarify?  I am looking at the --


MR. BURRELL:  In your reply submission to IR No. 10, you have confirmed that Niagara West Transformation Corp. is indeed obligated to the requirements under the code.

MS. BUBISH:  Right.

MR. BURRELL:  In your reply to IR 11, you noted that the procedures, the connection procedures that are set out in the code in this regard, doesn't apply to Niagara West.  So there is a little bit of inconsistency there.

MR. WICKS:  I don't understand.

MR. BURRELL:  What I am trying to get at here is it is a little bit unclear whether or not Niagara West requested and received any approval from the Board to be exempted from any of these provisions --


MS. BUBISH:  No.  No.  And I think the answer was in response to -- we have two customers and there would not be anyone else being connected.

MR. BURRELL:  But I don't think under the code, particularly under your licence, that any exception has been made, and --


MS. BUBISH:  No, you are right.  You're correct.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.  So then, in fact, you would still be subject to meeting those requirements,
including --


MS. BUBISH:  Oh, yes, yes.

MR. BURRELL:  -- the connection procedures?

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.

MS. BUBISH:  That's correct.  And we do have a board member that is in charge of that, and if there are any changes to that code, that he makes sure that we adhere to them.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.  But do you actually have -- in fact, have connection procedures in place today to allow for connection of, you know, proponents, whether that be a load or embedded generation, as was discussed earlier this morning?

MS. BUBISH:  Do we have procedures in place?

MR. WICKS:  Yes, we do.

MS. BUBISH:  Okay.

MR. WICKS:  We have a procedure in place that if there is any changes to the system code that affects the IESO, we review it and invariably comply with it.

Is that what you are asking?

MR. BURRELL:  No, that is not what I'm referring to.

These are connection procedures for new proponents or proponents who would like to connect to the grid by way of your facility, your transmission facilities.

MR. WICKS:  But we have no new components.  We have two customers, Grimsby and Penwest, with no intentions
of –-

MR. BURRELL:  I do understand that, and I don't want to sound very argumentative, but the code - as we noted, and you agreed that you're subject to the code - requires as all licensed transmitters to put in place, among other things, connection procedures to allow -- to facilitate connection of new facilities to the grid.

Also in your licence, these are also provisions that are prescribed by your licence and are required.

Now, it appears -- have you confirmed that you haven't sought and received any exception from the Board, so which would suggest, then, you are still subject to these provisions?

MR. WICKS:  Except that we have no capability or ability to connect to any additional customer load, other than the two we already have.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.  Are you familiar with the market rules?

MR. WICKS:  Some of them.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  Are you aware that there is an agreement between the IESO and Niagara West Transformation Corp. regarding provisions in the market rules that applies to Niagara West in this regard?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MS. BUBISH:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  And the connection assessment would be one of those provisions that would be applicable?

MR. WICKS:  Okay.  Agreed.

MR. BURRELL:  And there are also provisions in the market rules that sets out what the connection procedures are that needs to be undertaken to facilitate connection of new participants.

Like, for example, a study would be carried out to assess the capability of your system to accommodate new connections, and to the extent that there are any limitations, those would also be addressed in your -- in the connection assessment process?

MR. WICKS:  Yes.  And we would comply with those, except based on the way we operate and the fact that we only have two customers, with no ability to put a third one in, it wouldn't apply to us, then.

We wouldn't have to comply with it, because there is no ability to have a connection to anybody, other than the two that exist today.

MR. BURRELL:  Is it possible that the current capabilities of the station could be expanded, or could be reinforced to accommodate new connections?

MR. WICKS:  No.

MR. BURRELL:  Is there a study that was done to confirm that?

MR. WICKS:  No.  I guess not.  The problem is that the ownership -- development of the station was done by the two LDCs that are now our customer.

MR. BURRELL:  Right.

MR. WICKS:  And there is no ability, capability or interest in expanding it to anything further than that.

For example, we have load capacity, excess load capacity.  If another community wanted to connect to us, they would have to get approval from the two LDCs to do that.

But there are no intentions of doing that.

That's why we worded our response -- the connection procedure for processing requests to connect to Niagara West transmission system is not required, since Niagara West does not have plans to modify existing connection, nor any additional capacity to connect the additional loads.

MR. BURRELL:  But what if another proponent were to come along, like an embedded generator, and -- seeking to connect to the grid?

MS. BUBISH:  We talked about that.

MR. BACON:  Can I -- I may or may not help here, but I am going to try.

I think under - my understanding of Undertaking J1.4, if I recall, there was a study that you are going to provide -- there was a study that was done with regards to an embedded generator; that's correct?

MS. BUBISH:  That's right.

MR. WICKS:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  And we are going to provide you on the record with that study, which was what happened under that situation where a proponent did come forward and a study was conducted.

MR. BURRELL:  I understand that a study was done.

But can you confirm who actually carried out that study?  Was that Hydro One, or the IESO?

MR. WICKS:  No.  It was done by us, using an independent consulting engineer, as part of a CIA process to enable embedded generation to be connected to our system.

MR. BACON:  I think what I am hearing there is a process in place; it may not just be written down.

MR. BURRELL:  But what I am also trying to confirm is whether or not that process is consistent with the obligation and requirements under the Transmission System Code?

MR. BACON:  Subject to Peter's comments, I believe that –- well, I can't go there, because -- I believe that the process would be a realistic process that one would go through to see if the capabilities of the TS are there to handle the proponent.

And those capabilities would be based on -- direction from the Transmission System Code and the market rules would be taken, in order to do that study properly.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.  I will move along.

I just have one other question.

Based on our assessment of the evidence and the discussion today, it is our view that it's quite possible that Niagara West may actually be out of compliance with the Transmission System Code, among other things, the various market rule provisions, and even its licence.

To the extent that was confirmed, can you comment on what impact this might have or what -- if there is any bearing on your application in terms of, among other things, like, the revenue requirements that you are seeking?

MR. BACON:  Well, to be clear, I don't -– and I am speaking for Peter and Karen here, and hopefully they will correct me if I am wrong -- but it is our position that we're not out of any compliance with any code.

But putting that aside, is that if there are -- so by definition, the revenue requirement is defined -- the costs included in revenue requirement include costs to operate and run the TS, which we believe is in compliance with the code.

So it is reflected in the revenue requirement.

MR. BURRELL:  So what I am hearing is to the extent that there were provisions that are various responsibilities that are required of a licensed transmitter that is currently not being provided, if they are actually required by the Board, then the revenue requirements that you are actually requested -- and if approved, that should be sufficient?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BURRELL:  To address those concerns?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Because if there are -- I don't want to speak out of turn here, but if there are requirements the Board expects from NWTC, it would believe it can do it within the revenue requirement that has been presented.

MR. BURRELL:  Okay.

Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. BACON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is there anything else from anyone?

Thank you, then.  That concludes today's technical conference.

I don't think the Board has set out any additional steps to date, but presumably a procedural order will be following in short or short-ish order.

Thank you, witnesses.

And we are adjourned.

MR. BACON:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 11:50 a.m.
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